
 

 

For all enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Sharon Hughes 
 (Tel: 01443 864281   Email: hughesj@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Date: 7th May 2024 

 
To Whom It May Concern, 
 
A multi-locational meeting of the Planning Committee will be held in the Council Chamber, Penallta 
House, and via Microsoft Teams on Wednesday, 15th May, 2024 at 5.00 pm to consider the matters 
contained in the following agenda.  You are welcome to use Welsh at the meeting, a minimum notice 
period of 3 working days is required should you wish to do so.  A simultaneous translation will be provided 
on request.  
 
Members of the public or Press may attend in person at Penallta House or may view the meeting live via 
the following link: https://civico.net/caerphilly.   
 
 

This meeting will be live-streamed and a recording made available to view via the Council’s website, 
except for discussions involving confidential or exempt items.  Therefore the images/audio of those 
individuals present and/or speaking at Planning Committee will be publicly available to all via the 

recording on the Council website.  
 

 
Interested parties may make a request to speak in regard to any item on this agenda. To obtain further 
details on this process please contact the Committee Clerk hughesj@caerphilly.gov.uk.   
 
 

Yours faithfully, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Public Document Pack

https://civico.net/caerphilly
https://civico.net/caerphilly
mailto:hughesj@caerphilly.gov.uk


Pages 
  

1  To receive apologies for absence. 
  

 

2  Declarations of Interest. 
  

Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on this agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers. 

 
 
To approve and sign the following minutes: -  
 
3  Planning Committee held on 10th April 2024. 

1 - 4  
 

To receive and consider the following report(s): -  
 
4  Application No: 23/0526/COU - Land At Long Barn, Argoed Uchaf Farm, Sunnyview, Argoed, 

Blackwood, NP12 0AJ. 
5 - 18  

 

5  Application No: 24/0129/COU - Arosfa, 48 High Street, Pengam, Blackwood, NP12 3SZ. 
19 - 26  

 

6  Application No: 24/0152/COU - 16 High Street, Rhymney, Tredegar, NP22 5NB. 
27 - 36  

 

 
Circulation: 

Councillors M.A. Adams, Mrs E.M. Aldworth (Vice Chair), A. Angel, R. Chapman, N. Dix, G. Ead, 
J.E. Fussell, A. Hussey, B. Miles, M. Powell, R. Saralis (Chair), J. Simmonds, J. Taylor, S. Williams, 
A. Whitcombe and K. Woodland 
 
And Appropriate Officers 
 
HOW WE WILL USE YOUR INFORMATION 
Those individuals that attend committee meetings to speak/give evidence will be named in the minutes of that meeting, 
sometimes this will include their place of employment or business and opinions expressed.  Minutes of Meetings including deta ils 
of speakers will be publicly available to all via the Council website at www.caerphilly.gov.uk. except for discussions involving 
confidential or exempt items. 
 
You have a number of rights in relation to your information, including the rights of access to information we hold about you and 
the right of complaint if you are unhappy with the way your information is being processed. 
 
For further information on how we process your information and your rights please view the Full Committee Meetings Privacy 

Notice on our website or contact Legal Services by email griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk or telephone 01443 863028. 

 
 

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
mailto:griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk


 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF THE MULTI-LOCATIONAL MEETING HELD AT PENALLTA HOUSE  

AND VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS ON WEDNESDAY, 10TH APRIL 2024  
AT 5:00 PM 

 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor R. Saralis – Chair 
Councillor Mrs E. M. Aldworth – Vice Chair 

 
 

Councillors: 
 

M. A. Adams, A. Angel, R. Chapman, N. Dix, G. Ead, J. Fussell, A. Hussey, B. Miles, M. 
Powell, J. Simmonds, S. Williams and K. Woodland. 
 
Cabinet Member: Councillor P. Leonard (Planning and Public Protection). 

 
 

Together with: 
 

V. Julian (Senior Lawyer), R. Kyte (Head of Regeneration and Planning), R. Thomas 
(Planning Services Manager), C. Powell (Team Leader Development Management),  
A. Pyne (Principal Planner), L. Cooper (Assistant Engineer), M. Tanner (Principal 
Engineer) and S. Hughes (Committee Services Officer). 
 

 
Also present to speak on applications:   
Agenda Item 4 – Councillor C. Thomas (speaking on behalf of Local Residents) and  
M. Lennon (Agent).  
 
 

 
RECORDING, FILMING AND VOTING ARRANGEMENTS 

 

The Chair reminded those present that the meeting was being live-streamed and 
recorded and would be made available following the meeting via the Council’s website – 
Click Here to View.  Members were advised that voting on decisions would be taken via 
Microsoft Forms.   

 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J. Taylor and A. Whitcombe.  
 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

https://civico.net/caerphilly


2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
Councillor K. Woodland declared a personal and prejudicial interest in Agenda Item 4 – 
Application No: 23/0347/COU - Change the Use From Office Building to Residential for 8 
No. Flats - Crumlin Institute Buildings, Crumlin Square, Crumlin, as he had predetermined 
the application due to speaking in objection as a Local Ward Member.  He left the meeting 
whilst the application was discussed.  Details are also minuted with the respective item. 

 
 

3. PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD ON 6TH MARCH 2024 

 
It was moved and seconded that the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 
6th March 2024 be agreed as a correct record.  By way of Microsoft Forms (and in noting 
there were 11 for, 0 against and 2 abstentions) this was agreed by the majority present. 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on  
6th March 2024 (minute nos. 1-4) be approved as a correct record. 

 
 
4. APPLICATION NO: 23/0347/COU - CHANGE THE USE FROM OFFICE BUILDING TO 

RESIDENTIAL FOR 8 NO. FLATS - CRUMLIN INSTITUTE BUILDINGS, CRUMLIN 
SQUARE, CRUMLIN 

 
 Councillor K. Woodland declared a personal and prejudicial interest as he had 

predetermined the application due to speaking in objection as a Local Ward Member.  He 
left the meeting whilst the application was discussed and did not take part in the debate or 
vote. 

 
The Planning Case Officer presented the application, with it confirmed in the 
accompanying report that the recommendation in respect of the proposal had taken full 
account of, and was in conformity with, both Future Wales and Planning Policy Wales 
Edition 12. 
 
Councillor C. Thomas (speaking on behalf of Local Residents) and Councillor K. 
Woodland (Local Ward Member) spoke in objection to the application and M. Lennon 
(Agent) spoke in support of the application. 

 
Following consideration of the application it was moved and seconded that subject to the 
conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the recommendation be approved.  By way of 
Microsoft Forms (and in noting there were 12 for, 1 against and 0 abstentions) this was 
agreed by the majority present. 

 
RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) Subject to the conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the application 

be GRANTED.   
 

(ii) The applicant be advised that the proposed development lies within a coal 
mining area which may contain unrecorded coal mining related hazards.  If 
any coal mining feature is encountered during development, this should be 
reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345 762 6848. 

 
Further information is also available on the Coal Authority Website. 

 
(iii) The applicant be advised of the comments of Dwr Cymru. 

 

Page 2

http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority


 
 
The meeting closed at 5.52 pm. 

 
 

Approved as a correct record and subject to any amendments or corrections agreed and 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting held on 15th May 2024, they were signed by the 
Chair. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
_______________________ 

CHAIR 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



Application Number: 23/0526/COU 
 

Date Received: 26.02.2024 

 
Applicant: Ms K Johnson 

 
Description and Location of Development:  Change the use of land from agricultural 

use to a private dog walking area, erect 2 No. timber shelters, and convert existing 
stables to form a new office - Land At Long Barn Argoed Uchaf Farm Sunnyview 

Argoed Blackwood 
 
APPLICATION TYPE: Change of Use 

 
SITE AND DEVELOPMENT 

 
Location: The application site relates to 2 field parcels adjacent to Long Barn, Argoed 
Uchaf Farm, Argoed. 

 
Site description: The site consists of two agricultural fields, adjacent to, and within the 

ownership of, Long Barn. The land is in a rural location situated to the west of Argoed 
village and to the north of the closest settlement of Blackwood. The site is split across 
two field parcels, along with the associated access and parking facilities to serve the 

two fields. The larger field parcel covers an area of 2.67 hectares and the smaller 
covers an area of 0.24 hectares. The fields are currently within an agricultural use and 

as such the fields are grassed, with the topography of the site largely unaltered, sloping 
upwards in a westerly direction. The site is crossed by a Public Right of Way 
(ARGO/FP125/1), which forms a separation line between the larger and smaller field. 

 
Development: The proposed development is to change the use of the two fields from 

agriculture, to a dog walking facility. The proposal also includes the siting of two timber 
shelters, the conversion of an existing stable building and the erection of boundary 
fencing. The fields would not be physically altered to accommodate the dog walking 

use, they would remain as existing. The fields would be enclosed by an outer 2 metre 
high fence and by an inner 1 metre high fence. The fences would be a pvc coated wire, 

supported by wooden posts. Two timber shelters would be placed within the fields to 
provide shelter for dog owners. The existing stable building at the site would be 
converted to form an office, waiting area, toilet and store room. Access to the site would 

be off an unclassified road and then via private shared access through the complex of 
dwellings at Argoed Uchaf Farm. A parking and turning area would be located adjacent 

to the smaller field and stable building. 
 
The site would operate on a booking system, where sessions last 45 minutes, for a 

single person and up to five dogs. The customer would book either of the two fields and 
have sole use of the field. Dog waste bins would be provided at the site, along with 

biodegradable bags for customers to use. Session times would be staggered to avoid 
vehicle conflicts between customers. The converted stable would act as an office for 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



customers to check in before using the fields. Operating hours have been suggested as 
being 8:30 to 16:30 during winter months and 08:00 to 20:00 during summer months. 

The operating hours would be less on a Saturday, starting an hour later at 09:00, 
finishing at the same time depending on winter or summer time. Sunday hours would be 

shorter again, starting at 10:00 and ending Saturday 17:00. 
 
Dimensions: The field dimensions would remain as existing. The fences to be erected 

would be an outer fence of a height of 2 metres and an inner fence of 1 metre. Gates 
would be installed with heights to match the respective fences. The existing stable 

building dimensions would remain as existing. Two field shelters are proposed, each 
shelter would measure 3 metres in width, 2.1 metres in depth and 2.5 metres in height 
at the front, dropping to 2.1 metres at the rear. 

 
Materials: The proposed fences would be pvc coated wire, supported by timber posts. 

The proposed gates would be timber. The proposed field shelters would be timber 
framed and clad in timber planks and a corrugated metal roof. The stable building would 
remain as existing, however windows and doors would be inserted into the existing 

openings. 
 

Ancillary development, e.g. parking: The proposed parking is located on an area of 
existing hardstanding, formed of compacted chippings. The parking area would be 
increased in size slightly and reinforced with additional chippings where necessary. 

 
PLANNING HISTORY 2010 TO PRESENT None. 

 
POLICY 
 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up 
to 2021 - Adopted November 2010. 

 
Site Allocation: The site is located outside of settlement limits. 
 

Policies: SP1 (Development Strategy - Development in the Heads of the Valleys 
Regeneration Area), SP5 (Settlement Boundaries), SP6 (Place Making), SP10 

(Conservation of Natural Heritage),  CW2 (Amenity), CW3 (Design Considerations: 
Highways), CW4 (Natural Heritage Protection), CW6 (Trees, Woodland and Hedgerow 
Protection), CW15 (General Locational Constraints), CW19 (Locational Constraints - 

Rural Development and Diversification) and CW20 (Locational Constraints - 
Conversion, Extension and Replacement of Buildings in the Countryside) and advice 

contained within the Local Planning Authority's adopted Supplementary Planning LDP 6: 
Building Better Places to Live and LDP 10: Buildings in the Countryside. 
 

NATIONAL POLICY Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (February 2021), (Planning 
Policy Wales Edition 12 (February 2024) and Technical Advice Notes; 5: Nature 

Conservation and Planning (September 2009), 6: Planning for Sustainable Communities 
(July 2010) and 12: Design (March 2016). 

Page 6



ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

Did the application have to be screened for an EIA? No. 
 

Was an EIA required? Not applicable. 
 
COAL MINING LEGACY 

 
Is the site within an area where there are mining legacy issues? The application site is 

located within an area of low risk, informative advice will be provided and any issues 
would be dealt with as part of the building regulations approval process. 
 

CONSULTATION 
 

Argoed Community Council - No comments received. 
 
Transportation Engineering Manager - CCBC - No objection, subject to conditions. 

 
Environmental Health Manager - No objection, subject to conditions. 

 
Senior Engineer (Drainage) - No objection. 
 

Senior Arboricultural Officer (Trees) - No objection in principle. Concerns raised in 
relation to the parking area and its impact on adjacent trees. 

 
Rights Of Way Officer - No objection, however concerns raised. 
 

Landscape Architect - CCBC - No objection, subject to conditions. 
 

ADVERTISEMENT 
 
Extent of advertisement: The application was advertised by means of neighbour letters 

and by the erection of a site notice. 
 

Response: Two letters of representation were received, both in support of the 
application. 
 

Summary of observations: The support comments can be summarised into the following 
points: 

1. No problem with the dog walking business, it’s a great idea. 
 
SECTION 17 CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 

 
What is the likely effect of the determination of this application on the need for the Local 

Planning Authority to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area? 
None. 

Page 7



EU HABITATS DIRECTIVE 
 

Does the development affect any protected wildlife species? Based on current 
evidence, the proposal is unlikely to have a significant impact on biodiversity. However, 

Policy 9 of Future Wales - The National Plan 2040 states that action towards securing 
the maintenance and enhancement of biodiversity (to provide a net benefit), the 
resilience of ecosystems and green infrastructure assets must be demonstrated as part 

of development proposals through innovative, nature based approaches to site planning 
and the design of the built environment. In that regard biodiversity enhancements will be 

sought as part of this development. 
 
Is this development Community Infrastructure Levy liable? No, as the floor space 

created is below 100 square metres. 
 

ANALYSIS 
 
Policies: The application has been considered in accordance with national policy and 

guidance, local plan policies and supplementary planning guidance. The main 
considerations in the determination of this application are whether justification exists for 

the creation of a dog walking business outside settlement limits together with its impact 
in terms of design, residential amenity and highway safety. 
 

Policy SP5 relates to settlement boundaries. The purpose of this policy is to promote 
resource efficient settlements, indicating where growth will be permitted through the 

delineation of settlement boundaries. By defining settlement boundaries, the areas 
outside of the boundary are recognised for the purposes of planning policy as 
countryside where new development will be strictly controlled. In that regard criterion D 

of Policy SP5 seeks to prevent inappropriate development in the countryside and should 
also be applied in conjunction with Policy CW15 whereby the policy sets out general 

locational constraints for new development. The site is not within any identified 
settlement within the settlement hierarchy of the Local Development Plan (LDP), and 
therefore lies outside of settlement limits. 

 
In line with the requirements of National and Local Planning Policy, development in the 

countryside should be located within and adjoining those settlements that have 
appropriate physical form and capacity for growth. Infilling or minor extensions to 
existing settlements may be acceptable, in particular where it meets a local need for 

affordable housing, however new buildings in the open countryside away from existing 
settlements or areas allocated for development in the Local Development Plan must 

continue to be strictly controlled. 
 
The proposal is not for affordable housing and is not considered to be infill 

development. The proposal seeks consent for the change of use of two fields from 
agriculture, to a dog walking business. Along with the siting of timber shelters and 

conversion of a stable building to form an office. 
 

Page 8



Policy CW15 sets out general locational constraints for new development and the types 
of uses that would be acceptable outside of settlement boundaries. Criterion (C) of 

Policy CW15 limits consideration of development outside settlement boundaries to five 
defined circumstances. Four of these do not apply in this instance, however, criterion C 

(iii) permits recreation, leisure and tourism proposals that are suitable in a countryside 
location. It is noted that the application site is located within the Heads of the Valleys 
Regeneration Area. Policy SP1 (Development in the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration 

Area) acknowledges that development within this area should seek to promote the area 
as a tourist, employment and residential area, and provide appropriate forms of growth 

in response to the role and function of settlements. As such the principle of a tourism 
proposal in this location would accord with Policy CW15 and criterion A and B of Policy 
SP1. 

 
Policy CW19 outlines constraints relating to rural development and diversification, it 

states the following: 
Rural Development and Diversification schemes will be permitted where: 
A. They are consistent in scale and compatible with their rural location, including the 

retention and enhancement of existing natural heritage features. 
B. That where buildings are required to deliver the scheme, existing buildings are 

reused where possible, or the new buildings relate to an existing group of buildings. 
C. They will be complementary to, and not prejudice, the operation of the existing 
business. 

 
The proposed development can be considered a rural development as well as being a 

form of diversification. It should be noted that the proposed development results in only 
two new structures at the site, these being small timber shelters. The proposed use 
allows the existing natural features to remain as existing, with the proposal including 

enhancement to the existing natural features through the planting of wildflowers, herbs 
and strengthening the existing boundary hedgerows. The site contains a stable building, 

which is proposed to be converted to form an office building associated with the 
proposed use. The external appearance would remain largely as existing, with the 
exception of windows and doors inserted into the existing openings. Given the above 

points, the proposed development is considered to be of a scale and use compatible 
with the rural location and also retains and enhances natural features at the site. The 

proposal also reuses an existing building at the site. Given the above, the proposed 
development is considered to comply with Policy CW19. 
 

Policy CW2 sets out the criteria relating to amenity. In terms of the relationships 
between the proposed use and existing dwelling, the occupiers of Long Barn would be 

the owners and operators of the proposed dog walking business. In that respect, it is not 
considered that any potential amenity concerns would be unacceptable as it is likely that 
the occupiers would be running and managing the business during opening hours. 

However, given the proximity to Long Barn, if the business was separated from the 
occupiers of Long Barn, it would likely result in an unacceptable impact on the future 

occupiers. In that respect, a condition will be added to the decision to tie the business to 

Page 9



Long Barn, so that the dog walking business can only be operated by the occupier of 
Long Barn. 

 
Turning the assessment to neighbouring properties, the closest property is Ysgubor 

Maenderw, located to the north west of the site. The application site shares a boundary 
with land associated with Ysgubor Maenderw, however the application site does not 
share a boundary with the curtilage associated with the dwelling. Consultation with the 

Environmental Health department raised no objection in terms of noise generated by 
dogs using the site, nor the operating hours suggested by the applicant. At the closest 

point, the application site is 35 metres from Ysgubor Maenderw, and at its further point, 
over 150 metres from the dwelling. Given the extent of land available to the dogs and 
distance from the dwelling, it is not considered that the proposed development would 

have an adverse impact on the amenity spaces of Ysgubor Maenderw. The other 
dwellings within the complex of houses are further from the application site and as such, 

the impact on those dwellings is also considered to be acceptable. 
 
The proposed development is also not considered to be an overdevelopment of the site 

and is compatible with surrounding land uses. Given the above, the proposed 
development is considered to be compliant with Policy CW2. 

 
Policy CW3 considers highway safety implications. Further to consultation with the 
Transportation Engineering Manager, no objection was raised subject to conditions 

tying the business to the occupiers of Long Barn, the implementation of a booking 
system for customers and a condition to ensure the parking area is laid out and 

completed prior the beneficial use of the proposal. Given this, there are no concerns in 
terms of highway safety and the proposal complies with Policy CW3. 
 

Policy CW6 states that Development proposals on sites containing trees, woodlands 
and hedgerows, or which are bordered by one or more such trees or hedgerows, will 

only be permitted provided that: 
 
B. Root systems will be retained and adequately protected for the duration of all 

development activity on site. 
C. Development proposals have made all reasonable efforts to retain, protect and 

integrate trees, woodlands or hedgerows within the development site. 
 
The proposed development is not considered to impact any existing trees or vegetation. 

Concerns were raised by the Council's Arboricultural Officer relating to trees adjacent to 
the proposed parking area. The trees in question are located outside of the application 

site and outside of the applicant’s ownership. The trees are set a reasonable distance 
from the parking area and are growing from a lower level than the parking area. As 
such, on balance it is not considered that the proposed parking area would detrimentally 

impact the trees adjacent.  
 

With regard to the wider site, the proposed development does not remove any existing 
trees, hedgerow or vegetation. The proposal includes a scheme to strengthen the 

Page 10



existing hedgerow and plant additional vegetation in the form of a wildflower meadow 
and herbs. Given the above, the proposed development is considered to comply with 

Policy CW6. 
 

In conclusion, the change of use of the site, to create a dog walking area is considered 
to be acceptable. The principle of the development is considered to be acceptable for 
the countryside location and the visual impact of the use and ancillary structures is 

considered to be minimal. The use is also not considered to result in an unacceptable 
impact on neighbouring dwellings and highway safety. The proposal therefore complies 

with policies SP6, CW2, CW3, CW6 and CW19 of the Caerphilly County Borough Local 
Development Plan up to 2021 - adopted November 2010. The application is therefore 
recommended for approval. 

 
Comments from Consultees: An objection was received from the Council's Arboricultural 

Officer. Their objections have been covered in the above report. Concerns were also 
raised by the Council's Rights of Way Officer, however the outstanding concerns can be 
dealt with through the Highways Act and as such, these matters will not be duplicated 

through the planning process. 
 

Comments from public: None to address. 
 
Other material considerations: Recent updates to Planning Policy Wales, to edition 12 

(Feb 2024), requires the submission of Green Infrastructure Assessments and 
Statements, along with strengthening the protection of SSSI's, net benefits for 

biodiversity and increased emphasis on tree protection and tree planting. Chapter 6 
explains that green infrastructure assessments and statements should be proportionate 
to the proposal. In this instance, the application results in the majority of the site 

remaining as existing. No specific reference to the provisions of the updated Chapter 6 
has been included in the submission. However, given the scope of the application, it is 

not considered necessary or proportionate to request a Green Infrastructure Statement. 
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 

Wales, has been considered in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 
under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. In reaching 

the recommendation below, the ways of working set out at section 5 of that Act have 
been taken into account, and it is considered that the recommendation is consistent with 
the sustainable development principle as required by section 8 of that Act. 

 
Future Wales - The National Plan 2040 was published on 24 February 2021 and forms 

part of the statutory development plan for the county borough.  In addition to this 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) was amended to take account of Future Wales and under 
PPW Edition 11, which was also published on 24th February 2021.  In reaching the 

conclusion below full account has been taken of both Future Wales and the updated 
PPW Edition 12, published February 2024 and where they are particularly pertinent to 

the consideration of the proposals they have been considered as part of the officer's 

Page 11



report. It is considered that the recommendation(s) in respect of the proposals is (are) in 
conformity with both Future Wales and PPW Edition 12. 

 
RECOMMENDATION that Permission be GRANTED 

 
This permission is subject to the following condition(s) 
 

01) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five 
years from the date of this permission. 

 REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 

02) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans and documents: 

 Dwg No. Site Location Plan received on 11.09.2023; 
 Dwg No. PL05 REV D - Proposed Layout of Both Fields received on 12.12.2023; 
 Dwg No. PL06 REV E - Proposed Partial Site Plan received on 12.12.2023; 

 Dwg No. PL07 REV D - Proposed Access and Reception received on 
12.12.2023; 

 Dwg No. PL08 - Proposed Ground Floor Plan received on 04.08.2023; 
 Dwg No. PL09 - Proposed Elevation Plan received on 04.08.2023; 
 Dwg No. PL10 REV B - Field Entrances and Boundary Treatments received on 

12.12.2023; 
 Dwg No. PL11 - Visibility Splays received on 12.12.2023; 

 Document Named: Ecology Report received 27.11.2023; and 
 Document Named: Design, Access and Planning Statement REV B received on 

26.12.2024. 

 REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
03) The dog walking business hereby permitted shall be operated only by the 

occupiers of Long Barn, Argoed Uchaf Farm, Sunnyview, Argoed (the dwelling 

shown and named within the red line on the approved Site Location Plan).  
 REASON: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with Policy CW2 

of the Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 
 
04) Prior to the commencement of the development a scheme depicting hard and 

soft landscaping shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The agreed details shall be carried out in the first planting 

and/or seeding season following the commencement of the development. Any 
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die or are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased, 

shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and 
species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any 

variation. 

Page 12



 REASON: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with 
policies CW2 and SP6 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local 

Development Plan up to 2021. 
 

05) Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, the timber 
structures and gates hereby approved shall be stained or painted a matt charcoal 
black or dark green. 

 REASON: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with 
policy SP6 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan 

up to 2021. 
 
06) Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a scheme for 

the storage, collection and disposal of commercial waste shall be submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such facilities shall be 

provided in accordance with the agreed details prior to the beneficial use of the 
development. 

 REASON: In the interests of public health and the amenity of the area in 

accordance with policy CW2 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local 
Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
07) Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a scheme for 

the storage, collection and disposal of dog faeces shall be submitted to and 

agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such facilities shall be provided 
in accordance with the agreed details prior to the beneficial use of the 

development. 
 REASON: In the interests of public health and the amenity of the area in 

accordance with policy CW2 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local 

Development Plan up to 2021. 
 

08) The dog walking business hereby permitted shall be by appointment only, and 
shall not exceed 2 customers at any one time. 

 REASON: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with policy CW2 

of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 
 

09) The use hereby permitted shall not be open to customers outside the following 
times: 

 April to September inclusive: 08:00 hours to 20:00 hours Monday to Friday, 09:00 

hours to 20:00 hours Saturday and 10:00 hours to 17:00 hours Sunday and Bank 
Holidays. 

 October to March inclusive: 08:00 hours to 16:30 hours Monday to Friday, 09:00 
hours to 16:30 hours Saturday and 10:00 hours to 16:00 hours Sunday and Bank 
Holidays. 

 REASON: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with policy CW2 
of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 

Page 13



10) Prior to the development commencing, a lighting scheme shall be submitted to 
and agreed, in writing, with the Local Planning Authority. That scheme shall 

indicate the type and positioning of luminaires, and a plan indicating expected 
illuminance levels both on and off site. The lighting shall thereafter be installed 

and maintained in accordance with the agreed scheme and no additional lighting 
shall be installed without the approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON: In the interests of nature conservation in accordance with policies 

CW4 and SP10 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development 
Plan up to 2021. 

 
11) Prior to the beneficial use of the development hereby approved, a plan showing 

details of the provision of bat roosts shall be submitted to the Local Planning 

Authority for approval. The approved details shall be implemented before the 
development is brought into beneficially use. 

 REASON: To provide additional roosting for bats as a biodiversity enhancement, 
in accordance with Section 40 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006, and policy contained in Welsh Assembly Government's Planning Policy 

Wales and TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning. 
 

12) Prior to the beneficial use of the development hereby approved, a plan showing 
details of the provision of bird boxes shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval. The approved details shall be implemented before the 

development is brought into beneficially use. 
 REASON: To provide additional habitats for birds as a biodiversity enhancement, 

in accordance with Section 40 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006, and policy contained in Welsh Assembly Government's Planning Policy 
Wales and TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning. 

 
Advisory Note(s) 

 
The proposed development directly affects the Public Right of Way, and the applicant is 
made aware of the existence of ARGO/FP125/1, and the need to maintain public 

access and safety at all times. 
  

 The applicant is reminded that it is an OFFENCE to obstruct a Public Right of 
Way.  There is one public right of way affected by the proposal.  The planning 
permission does not authorise the stopping up or diversion of the Public Right of 

Way.  The Public Right of Way may be stopped up or diverted by Order under Section 
257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, provided that the Order is made 

before the development is carried out, but this process is independent of the planning 
process and as such the applicant is advised to contact the Rights of Way Officer.   If 
the Public Right of Way is obstructed before the Order is made, the order cannot 

proceed until the obstruction is removed. 
  

 Should the applicant require further information regarding their responsibilities to 
the Public Right of Way, they are requested to contact the Rights of Way Officer. 

Page 14



Many species of bat depend on buildings for roosting, with each having its own 
preferred type of roost. Most species roost in crevices such as under ridge tiles, behind 

roofing felt or in cavity walls and are therefore not often seen in the roof space. Bat 
roosts are protected even when bats are temporarily absent because, being creatures 

of habit, they usually return to the same roost site every year. Bats are protected under 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended), which 
implements the EC Directive 92/43/EEC in the United Kingdom, and the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). Please be advised that, if bats are discovered, all 
works should stop immediately and Natural Resources Wales (NRW) should be 

contacted for advice on any special precautions before continuing. 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



23-0526-COU 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Application Number: 24/0129/COU 
 

Date Received: 05.03.2024 

 
Applicant: Mr R Kopec 

 
Description and Location of Development:  Change the use from a 3 bedroom 

dwelling to a 4 bedroom HMO C4 property - Arosfa 48 High Street Pengam Blackwood 
NP12 3SZ 
 
APPLICATION TYPE: Full Application 

 

SITE AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

Location: The application site is located on 48 High Street, in Pengam. 
 
Site description: The property is a terraced, two-storey dwelling in a mainly residential 

area. There is a country park on the opposite side of High Street with undeveloped land 
to the rear of the site. The dwelling is served by a rear lane access. 

 
Development: The proposed development is for the conversion of the property from a 
three bedroom dwelling into a four bedroom HMO property. The existing dining room on 

the ground floor is to be converted to a bedroom with the 3 bedrooms at first floor level 
retained as is. There would be no external alterations to the building. 

 
Dimensions: Not applicable.  
 

Materials: Not applicable. 
 

Ancillary development, e.g. parking: None.  
 
PLANNING HISTORY 2010 TO PRESENT None.  

 
POLICY 

 
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN  Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan 
up to 2021 - Adopted November 2010 (LDP). 

 
Site Allocation: The site is located within the settlement boundary. 

 
Policies: SP5 (Settlement Boundaries), SP6 (Place Making), CW2 (Amenity), CW3 
(Design Considerations: Highways), CW15 (General Locational Constraints together 

with advice contained within Supplementary Planning Guidance LDP 5: Car Parking 
Standards and LDP 6: Building Better Places. 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



NATIONAL POLICY Future Wales - The National Plan 2040, Planning Policy Wales 
12th Edition (February 2024); Welsh Government Houses in Multiple Occupation: 

Practice Guidance (March, 2017). 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
Did the application have to be screened for an EIA? No. 

 
Was an EIA required? Not required. 

 
COAL MINING LEGACY 
 

Is the site within an area where there are mining legacy issues? Not relevant to the 
nature of this application. 

 
CONSULTATION 
 

Transportation Engineering Manager - CCBC - No objections, subject to conditions. 
 

Environmental Health Manager - No objections. 
 
Senior Engineer (Drainage) - No objections. 

 
ADVERTISEMENT 

 
Extent of advertisement: The application was advertised by means of neighbour letter, 
in addition to a site notice being erected.  

 
Response: A number of responses were received, in the form of objections.  

 
Summary of observations: The responses can be summarised as the impact of the 
proposed conversion on adjacent residents and members of the public’s safety and 

wellbeing, this can be broken down into: 
Impact on adjacent properties and resident's amenity. 

Impact on the nearby primary school. 
Impact on safety of wider area. 
Impact on adjacent and wider highway network. 

Impacts on the environment. 
 

SECTION 17 CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 
 
What is the likely effect of the determination of this application on the need for the Local 

Planning Authority to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area? 
None. 

 
EU HABITATS DIRECTIVE 

Page 20



Does the development affect any protected wildlife species? No. 
 

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 

Is this development Community Infrastructure Levy liable? Not liable. 
 
ANALYSIS 

 
Policies: The application has been considered in accordance with national planning 

policy and guidance, local plan policy and supplementary planning guidance. The main 
considerations in the determination of this application are the compatibility of the 
proposed use within a residential area, the visual appearance of the development on 

the character of the street scene, as well as highway considerations. 
 

The proposal comprises the change of use from use as a single dwelling (C3) to a 
House in Multiple Occupation (C4). The application site is within the defined settlement 
boundary and the proposal is acceptable in principle conforming with the requirements 

of Policies CW15 (General Locational Constraints) and SP5 (Settlement Boundaries). 
 

In respect of housing delivery, the national planning guidance document Planning Policy 
Wales (PPW) acknowledges that there must be "sufficient sites suitable for the full 
range of housing types to address the identified needs of communities" (paragraph 

4.2.13). Caerphilly County Borough currently has a severe shortage of this type of 
property and heavily relies on bed and breakfast accommodation to meet the shortfall. It 

is therefore considered that the proposal will assist with the provision of accommodation 
for single persons or small households and contribute to meeting the needs of the 
community in line with Planning Policy Wales. 

 
The existing floor plans depict a three-bedroom property, with a kitchen, living room and 

dining room at ground floor, with all three bedrooms at first floor level. The sole change 
as can be seen is the ground floor dining room being adjusted to an additional bedroom. 
 

On that basis, the proposed change of use would reconfigure the internal layout and 
increase the capacity of the building to a total of 4 bedrooms. It is not considered that 

the addition of this one bedroom would lead to a significant increase in activities at the 
property over and above that which could occur with the lawful use of the building. 
Furthermore, it is noted that planning consent is not required for internal alterations that 

result in the re-configuration of the existing accommodation and it is conceivable that 4 
adults, living as a single household, could live in the property at present without the 

need for planning consent. This proposal would not materially change this. 
 
Criterion B of Policy SP6 requires development to be of a high standard of design that 

reinforces attractive qualities of local distinctiveness. In that respect, no external 
alterations are proposed to the host building itself, and as such there are no concerns in 

this respect.  Given the above, the proposed development is considered to be compliant 
with criterion B of Policy SP6. 

Page 21



Policy CW2 of the Local Development Plan sets out criteria relating to amenity and 
states that development proposals must ensure that there is no unacceptable impact on 

the amenity of adjacent properties or land. In that respect, no external alterations to the 
building are proposed, as such it is not considered that the development would give rise 

to any adverse visual impacts to the character and appearance of the surrounding area. 
In terms of its impact on neighbouring amenity, given that no external alterations to the 
building are proposed it is not considered that the development would give rise to any 

loss of privacy or overbearing impacts that are not already present on site. 
 

The Welsh Government published a practice guidance note on Housing in Multiple 
Occupation in March 2017 which advised that "HMO’s provide a source of 
accommodation for certain groups, including students temporarily resident in a locality 

and individuals and/or small households unable to afford self-contained 
accommodation. Concerns can arise with the management of HMO’s because of the 

transient nature of many tenancies, with many residents on low incomes and/or from 
vulnerable groups, the intensive use of shared facilities and lack of interaction between 
residents who may be complete strangers to each other. Consequently, HMO use of a 

house will generally be more intensive than single household use. This may have an 
impact not just on the residents in an HMO but on the wider neighbourhood and the 

likelihood of this increases where there are high concentrations of such properties." 
(Paragraph 1.3 WG HMO practice guidance note). 
 

With regard to the above concerns contained in the Welsh Government practice 
guidance it should be noted that it is stated that these issues can arise when there are 

concentrations of HMO's in a particular area.  The research document suggested that 
10% is a general 'tipping point' beyond which the evidence indicates that a 
concentration of HMO’s can begin to have an adverse impact on the character and 

balance of a community. This tipping point is described as a threshold beyond which a 
community can 'tip' from a balanced position in terms of demographic norms and 

impacts, towards a demographic that is noticeably more mixed in terms of shared and 
family households. In this instance it should be noted that not all HMO's require a 
license and in that respect it is unknown how many HMO's there are in the Caerphilly 

County Borough area. To be more specific, only HMO's that are three storey's in height 
are required to be licensed, of which there are only 3 licensed HMO's in the entirety of 

Caerphilly County Borough. None of these three total HMO'S is currently located within 
the Pengam Ward and this therefore means that the percentage is considerably less 
that the suggested tipping point of 10%. In that context, the Local Planning Authority is 

not in a position to argue that there is a high concentration of Houses of Multiple 
Occupation in the immediate vicinity of the application site or within Caerphilly County 

Borough as a whole. Taking into consideration the cumulative impacts of such HMO’s 
within the Caerphilly County Borough and their dispersed placement, it is not 
considered that the proposed change of use in itself would significantly change the 

immediate character of the local ward or detrimentally impact the current levels of 
amenity received by the neighbouring occupiers. Therefore the proposal complies with 

Policy CW2 in that it would not have an unacceptable impact upon the immediate 
character and amenity of the local area of Pengam. 

Page 22



Policy CW3 states that development proposals should have regard for the safe, 
effective and efficient use of the transportation network. The Transportation Engineering 

Manager was consulted on the proposal, in which no objection was raised subject to a 
number of conditions relating to the off-street parking. 

 
In conclusion the proposal complies with Policy CW2, Policy CW3 and Policy SP6 of the 
Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021 - adopted November 

2010, as such it is considered to be acceptable in planning terms and it is 
recommended that planning permission is granted subject to conditions. 

 
Comments from consultees: No objections received.  
 

Comments from public: Objections regarding impact on amenity and highway network 
addressed above. Objections regarding safeguarding relating to potential occupiers of 

the HMO have not been considered, this is not a matter for planning to be concerned 
with, purely the nature of the change of use from a dwelling to a HMO. The number of 
HMO properties in the borough and ward has been established as being extremely low 

and this addition would not take this above any threshold. 
 

Other material considerations: Recent updates to Planning Policy Wales, to edition 12 
(Feb 2024), requires the submission of Green Infrastructure Assessments and 
Statements, along with strengthening the protection of SSSI's, net benefits for 

biodiversity and increased emphasis on tree protection and tree planting. Chapter 6 
explains that green infrastructure assessments and statements should be proportionate 

to the proposal. In this instance, the application is to change the use of a building, with 
only internal works proposed. In that respect, no specific reference to the provisions of 
the updated Chapter 6 has been included in the submission. However, given the scope 

of the application, it is not considered necessary or proportionate to request a Green 
Infrastructure Statement. 

 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, has been considered in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 

under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. In reaching 
the recommendation below, the ways of working set out at section 5 of that Act have 

been taken into account, and it is considered that the recommendation is consistent with 
the sustainable development principle as required by section 8 of that Act. 
 

Future Wales - The National Plan 2040 was published on 24 February 2021 and forms 
part of the statutory development plan for the county borough.  In addition to this 

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) has been amended to take account of Future Wales and 
PPW Edition 12 has also been published on 7th February 2024.  In reaching the 
conclusion below full account has been taken of both Future Wales and PPW Edition 12 

and where they are particularly pertinent to the consideration of the proposals they have 
been considered as part of the officer's report. It is considered that the 

recommendation(s) in respect of the proposals is (are) in conformity with both Future 
Wales and PPW Edition 12. 

Page 23



RECOMMENDATION that Permission be GRANTED 
 

This permission is subject to the following condition(s) 
 

01) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five 
years from the date of this permission. 

 REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 

02) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans and documents: 

 AMENDED PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS (received 29/04/2024). 

 AMENDED SITE LOCATION PLAN (received 05/03/2024). 
 PARKING LAYOUT (received 18/04/2024) 

 REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 

03) The development shall not be occupied until the area indicated for the parking of 
vehicles has been laid out in accordance with the submitted plans and that area 

shall not thereafter be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles. 
 REASON: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CW3 of 

the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 24



24-0129-COU 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



Application Number: 24/0152/COU 
 

Date Received: 29.02.2024 

 
Applicant: Bajrangi Developments 

 
Description and Location of Development:  Change the use from a 4 bedroom semi-

detached house (C3) to a 5 bedroom HMO (C4) - 16 High Street Rhymney Tredegar 
NP22 5NB  
 
APPLICATION TYPE: Change of Use 

 

SITE AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

Location: The application site is at 16 High Street, Rhymney. 
 
Site description: The application site is a three storey semi-detached dwelling, set back 

from High Street and containing off-street parking to the front of the dwelling. The 
dwelling is finished in render and painted cream, white uPVC windows and doors and a 

concrete tile roof. The building is currently a 4 bedroom C3 dwelling. 
 
Development: The proposed development is to change the use of the building from C3, 

to a C4 House in Multiple Occupation (HMO). The proposed HMO would contain 5 
bedrooms, 2 bathrooms and a communal kitchen and lounge. The upper two floors 

would remain as existing, with 4 bedrooms and 2 bathrooms spread across the two 
floors. The ground floor would be reconfigured to create a fifth bedroom and a 
communal kitchen and lounge. Three off-street parking spaces have been indicated at 

the front of the property, along with a cycle shed for 4 cycles. 
 

Dimensions: Not applicable. 
 
Materials: Not applicable. 

 
Ancillary development, e.g. parking: None. 

 
PLANNING HISTORY 2010 TO PRESENT None. 
 

POLICY 
 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN  Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan 
up to 2021 - Adopted November 2010 (LDP). 
 

Site Allocation: The application site is within settlement limits and within the Rhymney 
Conservation Area. 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



Policies: SP1: (Development in the Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area (HOVRA)), 
SP5 (Settlement Boundaries), SP6 (Place Making), CW2 (Amenity), CW3 (Design 

Considerations: Highways), CW15 (General Locational Constraints together with advice 
contained within Supplementary Planning Guidance LDP 5: Car Parking Standards and 

LDP 6: Building Better Places. 
 
NATIONAL POLICY Future Wales - The National Plan 2040, Planning Policy Wales 

11th Edition (February 2021); Welsh Government Houses in Multiple Occupation: 
Practice Guidance (March, 2017). 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

Did the application have to be screened for an EIA? No. 
 

Was an EIA required? No. 
 
COAL MINING LEGACY 

 
Is the site within an area where there are mining legacy issues? Not applicable due to 

the nature of the application. 
 
CONSULTATION 

 
Rhymney Community Council - No comments received. 

 
Transportation Engineering Manager - CCBC - No objection, subject to conditions. 
 

Environmental Health Manager - No objection. 
 

ADVERTISEMENT 
 
Extent of advertisement: Eight neighbouring properties were notified of the application 

by letter and a site notice was erected. 
 

Response: Eight letters of objection were received. 
 
Summary of observations: The comments received can be summarised as follows: 

 
1. The development will result in an increase in antisocial behaviour. 

2. The property is within close proximity to a nursery. 
3. The development will put more pressure on local police, GP surgery and school 
facilities. 

4. There are too many of these properties in the area. 
5. There are other areas that can accommodate this type of development. 

6. The property is within the Rhymney Conservation Area, the proposal will undermine 
the status of the area. 

Page 28



7. The bedroom spaces are too small. 
 

SECTION 17 CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 
 

What is the likely effect of the determination of this application on the need for the Local 
Planning Authority to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area? 
There are no specific crime and disorder implications material to the determination of 

this application. 
 

EU HABITATS DIRECTIVE 
 
Does the development affect any protected wildlife species? No. 

 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 

 
Is this development Community Infrastructure Levy liable? The proposed development 
only affects the interior of the building. Therefore, the proposal is not liable for CIL. 

 
ANALYSIS 

 
Policies: The application has been considered in accordance with national planning 
policy and guidance, local plan policy and supplementary planning guidance. The main 

considerations in the determination of this application are the compatibility of the 
proposed use within a residential area, the visual appearance of the development on 

the character of the Rhymney Conservation Area, the impact on neighbour amenity and 
highway safety implications. 
 

The proposal comprises the change of use from use as a single dwelling (C3) to a 
House in Multiple Occupation (C4). The application site is within the defined settlement 

boundary and the proposal is acceptable in principle conforming with the requirements 
of Policies CW15 (General Locational Constraints) and SP5 (Settlement Boundaries). 
 

In respect of housing delivery, the national planning guidance document Planning Policy 
Wales (PPW) acknowledges that there must be "sufficient sites suitable for the full 

range of housing types to address the identified needs of communities" (paragraph 
4.2.13). Caerphilly County Borough currently has a severe shortage of this type of 
property and heavily relies on bed and breakfast accommodation to meet the shortfall. It 

is therefore considered that the proposal will assist with the provision of accommodation 
for single persons or small households and contribute to meeting the needs of the 

community in line with Planning Policy Wales. 
 
The application property is a semi-detached three storey dwelling within an established 

residential area of Rhymney. The property currently has four bedrooms and two 
bathrooms spread across the two upper floors. The property is accessed at ground 

floor, which contains a living room and kitchen. The application seeks full planning 
permission for the change of use of the property to a HMO with five bedrooms. The 

Page 29



layout of the two upper floors will remain as existing, this being four bedrooms and two 
bathrooms. The ground floor will be rearranged internally to create an additional 

bedroom, along with a communal kitchen and lounge area. 
 

On that basis, the proposed change of use would reconfigure the internal layout and 
increase the capacity of the building to a total of 5 bedrooms. It is not considered that 
the addition of this one bedroom would lead to a significant increase in activities at the 

property over and above that which could occur with the lawful use of the building. 
Furthermore, it is noted that planning consent is not required for internal alterations that 

result in the re-configuration of the existing accommodation and it is conceivable that 5 
adults, living as a single household, could live in the property at present without the 
need for planning consent. This proposal would not materially change this. 

 
Criterion B of Policy SP6 requires development to be of a high standard of design that 

reinforces attractive qualities of local distinctiveness. In that respect, no external 
alterations are proposed to the host building itself, and as such there are no concerns in 
this respect. The site is within the Rhymney Conservation Area and as such, 

consideration of the impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area 
should be undertaken. In that respect, the external appearance of the building will 

remain as existing. It is also considered that the development would not have an impact 
on the character of the conservation area. The use of the building remains residential, 
albeit not the current form of residential use, as such the primary use of the building 

remains and its contribution to the character of the conservation area remains as 
existing. Given the above, the proposed development is considered to be compliant with 

criterion B of Policy SP6. 
 
Policy CW2 of the Local Development Plan sets out criteria relating to amenity and 

states that development proposals must ensure that there is no unacceptable impact on 
the amenity of adjacent properties or land. In that respect no external alterations to the 

building are proposed, as such it is not considered that the development would give rise 
to any adverse visual impacts to the character and appearance of the surrounding area. 
In terms of its impact on neighbouring amenity, given that no external alterations to the 

building are proposed it is not considered that the development would give rise to any 
loss of privacy or overbearing impacts. 

 
The Welsh Government published a practice guidance note on Housing in Multiple 
Occupation in March 2017 which advised that "HMO’s provide a source of 

accommodation for certain groups, including students temporarily resident in a locality 
and individuals and/or small households unable to afford self-contained 

accommodation. Concerns can arise with the management of HMO’s because of the 
transient nature of many tenancies, with many residents on low incomes and/or from 
vulnerable groups, the intensive use of shared facilities and lack of interaction between 

residents who may be complete strangers to each other. Consequently, HMO use of a 
house will generally be more intensive than single household use. This may have an 

impact not just on the residents in an HMO but on the wider neighbourhood and the 

Page 30



likelihood of this increases where there are high concentrations of such properties." 
(Paragraph 1.3 WG HMO practice guidance note). 

 
With regard to the above concerns contained in the Welsh Government practice 

guidance it should be noted that it is stated that these issues can arise when there are 
concentrations of HMO's in a particular area.  The research document suggested that 
10% is a general 'tipping point' beyond which the evidence indicates that a 

concentration of HMO’s can begin to have an adverse impact on the character and 
balance of a community. This tipping point is described as a threshold beyond which a 

community can 'tip' from a balanced position in terms of demographic norms and 
impacts, towards a demographic that is noticeably more mixed in terms of shared and 
family households. In this instance it should be noted that not all HMO's require a 

license and in that respect it is unknown how many HMO's there are in the Caerphilly 
County Borough area. To be more specific, only HMO's that are three storey's in height 

are required to be licensed, of which there are only 3 licensed HMO's in the entirety of 
Caerphilly County Borough. One of the licensed HMO's is within the Twyn Carno ward, 
in which this application is also located. The Twyn Carno ward has a total of 1798 

residential dwellings and taking into account the licensed HMO's and this application, 
the number of HMO's is 2. As such, the percentage of HMO's in the Twyn Carno ward is 

0.1%, which is considerably less that the suggested tipping point of 10%. In that 
context, the Local Planning Authority is not in a position to argue that there is a high 
concentration of Houses of Multiple Occupation in the immediate vicinity of the 

application site or within Caerphilly County Borough as a whole. Taking into 
consideration the cumulative impacts of such HMO’s within the Caerphilly County 

Borough and their dispersed placement, it is not considered that the proposed change 
of use in itself would significantly change the immediate character of Rhymney or 
detrimentally impact the current levels of amenity received by the neighbouring 

occupiers. Therefore the proposal complies with Policy CW2 in that it would not have an 
unacceptable impact upon the character and amenity of the local area of Rhymney. 

 
Policy CW3 states that development proposals should have regard for the safe, 
effective and efficient use of the transportation network. The Transportation Engineering 

Manager was consulted on the proposal, in which no objection was raised subject to a 
number of conditions relating to the off-street parking. 

 
In conclusion the proposal complies with Policy CW2, Policy CW3 and Policy SP6 of the 
Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021 - adopted November 

2010, as such it is considered to be acceptable in planning terms and it is 
recommended that planning permission is granted subject to conditions. 

 
Comments from Consultees: No objection. 
 

Comments from public: The following is provided in response to the comments 
received: 

 

Page 31



1. The development will result in an increase in antisocial behaviour. - There is regard 
given to crime and disorder through the planning process, however it is not a material 

consideration for this application. Managing and preventing antisocial behaviour is a 
matter for the police. 

2. The property is within close proximity to a nursery. - This is not a material 
consideration. 
3. The development will put more pressure on local police, GP surgery and school 

facilities. - Given the scale of the development, it is not considered that the development 
would put undue pressure on local police, GP surgery and school. 

4. There are too many of these properties in the area. - As identified in the above report, 
the number of HMO's in the Tywn Carno ward is very low. 
5. There are other areas that can accommodate this type of development. - This is not a 

material consideration. 
6. The property is within the Rhymney Conservation Area, the proposal will undermine 

the status of the area. - As identified in the above report, the proposed development is 
not considered to impact the Rhymney Conservation Area. 
7. The bedroom spaces are too small. - There are no defined minimum space standards 

for this form of development, as such the size of the bedrooms are considered 
acceptable. 

 
Other material considerations: Recent updates to Planning Policy Wales, to edition 12 
(Feb 2024), requires the submission of Green Infrastructure Assessments and 

Statements, along with strengthening the protection of SSSI's, net benefits for 
biodiversity and increased emphasis on tree protection and tree planting. Chapter 6 

explains that green infrastructure assessments and statements should be proportionate 
to the proposal. In this instance, the application is to change the use of a building, with 
only internal works proposed. In that respect, no specific reference to the provisions of 

the updated Chapter 6 has been included in the submission. However, given the scope 
of the application, it is not considered necessary or proportionate to request a Green 

Infrastructure Statement. 
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 

Wales, has been considered in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 
under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. In reaching 

the recommendation below, the ways of working set out at section 5 of that Act have 
been taken into account, and it is considered that the recommendation is consistent with 
the sustainable development principle as required by section 8 of that Act. 

 
Future Wales - The National Plan 2040 was published on 24 February 2021 and forms 

part of the statutory development plan for the county borough.  In addition to this 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) was amended to take account of Future Wales and under 
PPW Edition 11, which was also published on 24th February 2021.  In reaching the 

conclusion below full account has been taken of both Future Wales and the updated 
PPW Edition 12, published February 2024 and where they are particularly pertinent to 

the consideration of the proposals they have been considered as part of the officer's 

Page 32



report. It is considered that the recommendation(s) in respect of the proposals is (are) in 
conformity with both Future Wales and PPW Edition 12. 

 
RECOMMENDATION that Permission be GRANTED 

 
This permission is subject to the following condition(s) 
 

01) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five 
years from the date of this permission. 

 REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 

02) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans and documents: 

 Dwg No. PL01 - Existing Block and Location Plan received 26.02.2024; and 
 Dwg No. PL03 - Proposed Plans received 26.02.2024. 
 REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the 

Local Planning Authority. 
 

03) The development shall not be occupied until the area indicated for the parking of 
vehicles has been laid out in accordance with the submitted plans and that area 
shall not thereafter be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles. 

 REASON: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CW3 of 
the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
04) The development shall not be occupied until the cycle parking has been provided 

in the location identified for cycle parking on the approved plans.  

 REASON: To ensure that the development is accessible by all modes of 
transport in the interests of sustainability in accordance with policy CW3 of the 

adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 
 
05) Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, roosts and a means 

of access for bats shall be provided as part of the approved development. 
 REASON: To provide additional roosting for bats as a biodiversity enhancement, 

in accordance with Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, Policy 
9 of Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (2021), Planning Policy Wales Edition 
11 (2021), Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 

and policies CW4 and SP10 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local 
Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
06) Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, nesting sites for 

birds shall be provided as part of the approved development. 

 REASON: To provide additional roosting for birds as a biodiversity enhancement, 
in accordance with Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, Policy 

9 of Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (2021), Planning Policy Wales Edition 
11 (2021), Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 

Page 33



and policies CW4 and SP10 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local 
Development Plan up to 2021. 

 

Page 34



24-0152-COU 

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 36


	Agenda
	3 Planning Committee held on 10th April 2024.
	4 Application No: 23/0526/COU - Land At Long Barn, Argoed Uchaf Farm, Sunnyview, Argoed, Blackwood, NP12 0AJ.
	Application No: 23/0526/COU - Site Plan

	5 Application No: 24/0129/COU - Arosfa, 48 High Street, Pengam, Blackwood, NP12 3SZ.
	Application No: 24/0129/COU - Site Plan

	6 Application No: 24/0152/COU - 16 High Street, Rhymney, Tredegar, NP22 5NB.
	Application No: 24/0152/COU - Site Plan


